FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2013 SEP 12 PM 1:13

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY  _____
DEPUTY

NO. 44575-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

IN RE THE DETENTION OF

CHARLES H. ROBINSON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

vs.

CHARLES H. ROBINSON, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

James L. Reese, III
WSBA #7806
Attorney for Appellant

612 Sidney Avenue
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360)876-1028

A. Assignments of Error

Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred when it admitted the video deposition of the respondent into evidence.
2. The sexual violent predator statute violates the petitioner's Fifth Amendment right against self incrimination.
3. The sexual violent predator statute violates the appellant's substantive due process rights guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.
4. The trial court erred when it ordered "...that the Respondent, Charles Robinson, is a sexually violent predator as defined in RCW 71.09.020(18)."
5. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 4. (See appendix where the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are set forth in full.)
6. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 5.
7. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 12.
8. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 13.
9. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 15.
10. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 16.
11. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 23.
12. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 28.

13. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 29.
14. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 30.
15. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 31.
16. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 33.
17. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 34.
18. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 35.
19. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 36.
20. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 37.
21. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 40.
22. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 41.
23. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 42.
24. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 43.
25. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 44.
26. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 45.
27. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 47.
28. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 48.
29. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 49.
30. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 50.
31. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 51.
32. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 52.
33. The trial court erred when it entered finding of fact 53.

34. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 2. (See appendix).
35. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 5.
36. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 6.
37. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 7.
38. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 8.
39. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 9.
40. The trial court erred when it entered conclusion of law 10.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it authorized the state to introduce into evidence and play the video deposition of the appellant in its case in chief pursuant to CR 32(a) when Mr. Robinson was present at the time of trial? (Assignment of Error 1.)
2. Whether the sexual predator statute violates the petitioner's Fifth Amendment and due process rights because it is so punitive in its effect to negate its label that it is a civil statute? (Assignments of Error 2-3.)
3. Whether, after review of all the facts, testimony and exhibits in this case, there was sufficient evidence to support the trial courts conclusion that the appellant was a sexually violent predator (SVP)? (Assignment of Error 4.)
4. Whether there was substantial evidence to support the trial court's

findings of fact to which error was assigned? (Assignments of Error 5-33.)

5. Whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law?

(Assignments of Error 34-40.)

B. Statement of the Case

Prior Procedure

On December 18, 2007, the state filed a petition alleging that the respondent¹ Charles Robinson was a sexually violent predator as defined by RCW 71.09.020(18). CP 70, 497. On December 21, 2007 the trial court entered an order affirming probable cause and directed that the respondent be detained at the Special Commitment Center on McNeil Island. *Id.* Mr. Robinson has been held involuntarily in this secure facility to date.

This is a period of five years after he has finished serving his sentence on the predicate offense of Child Molestation in the First Degree contrary to RCW 9A.44.083.² He was convicted of this offense on March 9, 2001 in Jefferson County Superior Court.

Prior to his Washington conviction, Robinson was convicted in

¹ Mr. Robinson is referred to as the respondent in the trial court proceedings and as the appellant in this appeal. The state is referred to as the petitioner.

² This is a sexually violent offense as defined by RCW 71.09.020 (17). Robinson was initially sentenced to life imprisonment without parole. That sentence was reduced on appeal to 89 months imprisonment. CP 71.

California in 1987 for the crime of Lewd and Lascivious Acts with a Child Under Age 14. CP 72. He was sentenced to six years and was parolled in 1991 for three years. *Id.*

During a home visit on March 23, 1992 Robinson was observed by his parole officer sitting in a lawn chair watching 4 or 5 youngsters playing outside of his back door. The officer also discovered two knives. CP 127. Three days later five knives were discovered. CP 128. During this incident Robinson admitted that he brought a seven year old boy into his bathroom. *Id.* He denied that he molested the child. CP 499. He was sentenced to one year's confinement and released on March 26, 1993. CP 73.

According to Sharon L. Guss' video deposition, she was Mr. Robinson's parole agent in California on September 28, 1993. On that date she went to his house to perform a search. CP 223. Searching his room she found "some magazines that had to do with children." CP 224. Also, located in a trunk in the garage were "Children's clothing. Little boys underpants. Some toys."³ CP 226. In the interim, Mr. Robinson arrived in a vehicle driven by one of his friends. Inside the vehicle were the driver's

³ Also included in the trunk was a hospital gown, sweatshirt, numerous toys, marbles and badges from youth organizations. CP 229.

two female daughters, both under the age of 8. CP 224.⁴

According to Mr. Robinson's deposition he served a one year sentence for these violations. CP 230. Guss re-supervised Robinson beginning in September 1994. In December 1994 she observed him walking with the same two girls holding their hands in City of Dinuba, Tulare County, California. CP 234-5. According to the exhibits to Guss' deposition, Mr. Robinson was released on September 28, 1994. CP 241, CP 278-Ex. 3.

Mr. Robinson's parole time in California lapsed on January 16, 1995. CP 74. He moved to Port Townsend in 2000 with his girlfriend Heather Taylor when she moved in with her parents. CP 342. He was arrested in Jefferson County, Washington in July 2000 for his involvement with WB, when he was being baby-sat by Robinson. He was convicted in March 2001. I RP 52.

Trial Testimony

Mr. Robinson's video deposition was objected to by his attorney but was admitted into evidence.⁵ I RP 35-6, ex. 21. It was played intermittently

⁴ One of the conditions of Robinson's parole was not have contact with minor children. CP 225; 274- Ex. 1.

⁵ Also admitted was exhibit 20: the video disk of the 11/15/12 deposition and exhibit 22 a transcript of the video deposition. I RP 40-1.

during the trial.

Dr. Ronald D. Page

The petitioner called Ronald D. Page, a clinical psychologist, who interviewed Mr. Robinson while he was in prison in 2006. I RP 46,49. His report and interview was nearly six years old. This lapse of time was reflected in the witness's statement regarding identification: "Well, I wouldn't recognize him from 2006, during my single contact with him. But I take your word for it." I RP 49. Page previously diagnosed Robinson with pedophilia, polysubstance dependence in remission and borderline personality disorder. I RP 52. Dr. Page was of the general opinion that: "Robinson is ego based in his reference and is manipulative and pursued a lifestyle of a predatory pedophile." FF 15, CP 600.

Dr. Harry Goldberg

The state called its primary expert witness Dr. Harry Goldberg of California. II RP 87. He was called to testify on the issue of whether Mr. Robinson suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that would cause him serious difficulty in controlling his alleged sexually violent behavior. II RP 102, 135-40. He diagnosed Mr. Robinson as pedophilia, personality disorder NOS⁶ with antisocial personality traits and

⁶ NOS was described as meaning "not otherwise specified" used in the *Diagnostic and Statistics Manual Version 4, Text Revision*. It is a

more recently with psychotic disorder NOS. II RP 106. Moreover, he was of the opinion that Mr. Robinson's pedophilia effected his emotional or volitional capacity to control his behavior. II RP 135-6.

Secondly, he was called to testify whether Mr. Robinson's current condition makes him more likely than not to commit "predatory acts of sexual violence" unless he is confined in a secure facility for treatment. CP 75, II RP 141. He testified that after reviewing the instruments he was of the opinion that Mr. Robinson was "...likely to engage in sexually violent predatory behavior, as a result of his diagnosed mental disorder." III RP 192, 196. He concluded his testimony by stating his opinion that Mr. Robinson suffers from a mental abnormality and from a personality disorder that causes his serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. II RP 196. And was likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if he was not confined in a secure facility. *Id.*

In support of his opinions Dr. Goldberg testified that he evaluated Mr. Robinson by reviewing records relating to Mr. Robinson including "criminal, sexual, incarceration, educational, medical, mental health, family and treatment history." *Id.*, II RP 96-7. In addition, Dr. Goldberg used actuarial instruments and risk calculations to support his opinions. II

catch-all category describing an unusual type of disorder. II RP 123.

RP 99.

Among the actuarial instruments used by Dr. Goldberg were the MnSOST-R, Static-99 Revised, Static 2002R, the SORAG (Sex Offender Risk Appraisal Guide), the Hare Psychopathy Check List Revised (PCL-R) and the SRA-FV.⁷ CP 83, II RP 146, 170. As described by the petitioner: “The MnSOST-R is based on a study of over 200 male sex offenders released from Minnesota prisons.” CP 83. The SORAG was developed in Canada. III RP 165. And the SRA-FV has been developing over the past four years. II RP 178.

Dr. James C. Manley

James C. Manley was the clinical psychologist expert for the respondent. III RP 260. He had been licensed since 2000 and had previously been employed at the Special Commitment Center (SCC) in 1999 for two years performing annual reviews and commitment evaluations. III RP 261. Since then he has been in private practice, except for another four years of re-employment at the SCC in the forensic unit. III RP 263. After performing extensive research into Mr. Robinson’s case profile he was of the opinion that Mr. Robinson’s diagnosis was

⁷ MnSOST-R (ex. 29, CP 572-73, RP 162); Static-99 Revised (ex.17; CP 565-66; RP 149); SORAG (ex. 28, RP 164); PCL-R (ex. 30, CP 578-79, RP 170); SRA-FV (ex. 19, CP 572-73, RP 179).

pedophilia non-exclusive type. The second diagnosis was major depression, moderate chronic, with intermittent psychotic features. RP 311.

Robinson was described as being at the “lower level of intellect and thus illiterate.” III RP 318. Dr. Manley did not render an axis II diagnosis for Mr. Robinson. He felt that he did not suffer from a personality disorder. He was also of the opinion that Mr. Robinson was not a substance abuser.

Dr. Manley agreed with Dr. Goldberg that Mr. Robinson was of moderate to high risk to re-offend based on the Static-99, but did not meet the criteria for RCW 71.09. III RP 333, 356. Although he diagnosed Mr. Robinson with pedophilia, he did not find that he suffered from a mental abnormality. FF 46, CP 609.

The trial court found and concluded that “The evidence presented at the Respondent’s trial proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the Respondent is a sexually violent predator, as that term is defined by RCW 71.09.020(18).” CP 611, CL 9, 1/18/13 RP 26. On February 22, 2013 the Respondent filed a notice of appeal to the Court of Appeals. CP 474.

C. Argument

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PETITIONER TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE A VIDEO DEPOSITION IT TOOK OF THE RESPONDENT.

Prior to trial the appellant’s attorney argued:

”...I would object to the admissibility of the video deposition. Mr. Robinson is present. He’s available, if he does so testify. The deposition was taken at a time when—in the Special Commitment Center, when he was —part of his confinement was that he didn’t have any real knowledge that it could be —that he had an alternative to present his own testimony live. So at this time, we would just simply object to the admissibility of the video deposition.” I RP 36.⁸

The state cited *In re Detention of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 150 P.3d 86 (2007). Actually, *Stout* is distinguishable from the issues at bench. *Stout* addressed the constitutional rights of Stout to be present at the video-deposition of an adverse witness: the sexual victim of a predicate burglary conviction. There was no argument presented that addressed the issue of a person’s ability to object to the offer of their own video-deposition into evidence by the state in its case in chief.

The holding in *Stout* was simply: “...we hold that an SVP detainee does not have a due process right to confront a live witness at a commitment trial, nor does he have a due process right to be present at a deposition.” *Id.* at 374. The state introduced two depositions to prove that Stout was a sexually violent predator. Stout was not present at either deposition and did not request to be present.

⁸ After further argument the record shows: “THE COURT: All right. And so is there any basis under the rule or any other authority that makes presentation and publication or admission of the deposition inappropriate. MS. JARDINE: No, Your Honor.” I RP 37.

Here, the state was allowed by the trial court to bootstrap that holding as justification for admission of the video-deposition over Mr. Robinson's initial objection that he was present and available. I RP 36.

Abuse of Discretion

The trial court abused its discretion when it admitted the video deposition of the respondent. The standard of review is abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion is discretion manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons." *State ex. Rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

CR 43(a)(1)⁹ states in part as follows: "In all trials the testimony of witnesses shall be taken orally in open court unless otherwise directed by the court or provided by rule or statute." According to the concurring opinion in *Stout*: "The rule presupposes that witnesses must be physically present in the courtroom to give live, oral testimony." *Id.* at 386. In the case at bench, the trial court allowed the state to introduce and show- at intervals between "live" testimony- Mr. Robinson's video deposition. He was present in the courtroom for the majority of the trial.¹⁰

Examination of evidentiary rules supports the preference for

⁹ See appendix for complete text of CR 43(a)(1).

¹⁰ After Dr. Manley testified on direct examination, Mr. Robinson waived his right to be present for the remainder of the testimony. RP 359.

testimony to be conducted in the courtroom as established by precedent and especially by CR 43. Also, ER 804(b)(1)¹¹ indicates the court's "strong preference for live testimony." *Stout*, concurring opinion at 386. That rule, indicates that a declarant's statement against interest is admissible "...if the declarant is unavailable as a witness." Here, Robinson argued that he was available as a witness. I RP 36.

The state also argued that the video deposition of Mr. Robinson should be admitted pursuant to CR 30(b)(6); CR 31 and CR 32(a)(2). I RP 36-7. Cr 30(b)(6) does not appear to be in point. That rule is directed to service of notice of examination on a "public or private corporation or a partnership or association or governmental agency...." CR 31 is not in point either. That rule is entitled "Deposition upon Written Questions."

State Court Precedent

Under the circumstances of *State v. Scott*, 48 Wn.App. 561, 739 P.2d 742 (Div. I 1987), *aff'd*, 110 Wn.2d 682 (1988) the court found that the admission of the witness's deposition was in error. Sung, the victim of

¹¹ If a deponent is unavailable to testify at trial ER 804 allows deposition testimony to be introduced. ER 804(b)(1) states: "*Former Testimony*. Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination."

a burglary informed the prosecutor that he planned to be gone on a trip to Korea to visit his sick wife and would not be able to attend the trial. The prosecutor preserved his testimony by pretrial deposition. Defense counsel was provided notice, attended the deposition and cross-examined Sung. At trial the defense objected to Sung's deposition and argued that he was not unavailable as mandated and required by ER 804(b)(1). The trial court admitted Sung's deposition.

The Court of Appeals held that this was error where Sung was released from his subpoena. There must be a showing by the State that a good faith effort was made to obtain the witnesses' presence at trial through a subpoena.

The Court of Appeals cited several cases including *State v. Sanchez*, 42 Wn.App. 225,230, 711 P.2d 1029 (1985) that confirmed that the admission of Sung's deposition was error. In *Sanchez* the testimony of a witness was preserved by video deposition. The witness was allowed to go on vacation. The appellate court "...held that because the prosecution failed to show a good faith effort to obtain the presence of the witness at trial, the videotaped deposition was improperly admitted. *State v. Scott*, 48 Wn.App. At 565.

See also, *State v. Sweeney*, 723 P.2d 5511 (1986) and *State v. Goddard*, 38 Wn.App. 509, 685 P.2d 674 (1984) (Both cases concluded it

was error to admit the deposition of a witness and then permit them to return to California. In both cases the court held that a good faith effort should have been made to obtain the presence of the witness at trial through the Uniform Act to Secure the Attendance of Witnesses from Without a State in Criminal Proceedings. RCW 10.55.010, et seq. The courts held that this showing was necessary before unavailability could be established under ER 804. The failure to do so is reversible error.

Federal Precedent

Federal courts also support the rule favoring live testimony. In *Klepal v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co.*, 229 F.2d 610 (2d Cir. 1956) (Clark C.J.) the trial judge admitted depositions of the defendant employees which were offered by the plaintiff pre-trial to establish a prima facie case. These witnesses, although hostile, were available.

F.R. 32(a)(4)(E) [formerly F.R. 26] expressly authorizes the use of depositions only if the judge finds: “That such exceptional circumstances exist as to make it desirable in the interest of justice and with due regard to the importance of presenting the testimony of witnesses orally in open court, to allow the deposition to be used.” *Id.* 611-2. (see appendix for copy of current rule.)

According to *G.E.J. Corp. v. Uranium Aire, Inc.*, 311 F.2d 749, 755 (9th Cir. 1962) (“We see no reason why the pre-trial deposition of a

witness should be admissible when the witness is himself present.”) The court went on to hold:

“Depositions may only be used where the witness is unavailable or where exceptional circumstances necessitate their use. Rule 26(d) contemplates such use and was not intended to permit depositions to substitute at the trial for the witness himself. The Appellant could have secured Gould’s continued presence at the trial in order to later elect his oral testimony on the matter in question.” *Id.*

The goal is to give solicitude to the rules’ preference for oral testimony and to avoid trial by deposition alone. See also, *Martinez v. City of Stockton, Cal.*, 12 F.3d 1107 (9th Cir. 1993).

CR 32(a)

The state also cited and argued CR 32 (a). I RP 36-7. That rule states:

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