NO. 44575-1

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

In re the Detention of:

CHARLES ROBINSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

Kent Liu
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #21599
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 464-6430

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

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court does not determine whether *it* believes the evidence at trial was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 152,

110 P.3d 192 (2005), *overruled on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006). The reviewing court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and the commitment must be upheld if any rationale trier of fact could have found the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Audett*, 158 Wn.2d 712, 727-28, 147 P.3d 982 (2006).

All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against Appellant. *Id.* at 727. An appellate court should not second guess the credibility determinations of the fact-finder. *In re Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 811, 132 P.3d 714 (2006); *see also In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 680, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (“A trial court’s credibility determinations cannot be reviewed on appeal, even to the extent there may be other reasonable interpretations of the evidence.”) Appellate courts defer to the trier of fact regarding a witness’s credibility, conflicting testimony, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *In re Detention of Broten*, 130 Wn. App. 326, 335, 122 P.3d 942 (2005). “Determinations of credibility are for the fact finder and are not reviewable on appeal.” *Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d at 152.

2. The State Proved Beyond a Reasonable Doubt That Robinson Is a Sexually Violent Predator

The evidence in this case, taken in the light most favorable to the State, overwhelmingly supported the trial court's finding that Robinson met each element of a sexually violent predator.

In order to uphold Robinson's commitment, this Court must find the trial court had sufficient evidence to find the following elements:

1. That Robinson had been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence; and
2. That Robinson suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder; and
3. That such mental abnormality or personality disorder makes him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

RCW 71.09.020(18).

Here, the trial court determined that Robinson was convicted of a sexually violent offense as defined by RCW 71.09.020(17), namely, Child Molestation in the First Degree. CP 103 (FF 3, 11; CL 3). Next, the trial court determined that Robinson suffers from a mental abnormality in the form of pedophilia. *Id.* (FF 12, 22, 24, 27, 28, 31; CL 4). The trial court also found that Robinson suffers from a personality disorder in the form of personality disorder not otherwise specified with antisocial features. *Id.* (FF 12, 26; CL 5). Finally, the trial court found that Robinson mental

condition makes him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility. *Id.* (CL 8).

Ultimately, the trial court found that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Robinson is a sexually violent predator. *Id.* (FF 44, 53; CL 9).

3. Robinson's Assignments of Error Are Unsupported by the Record

Robinson assigns error to numerous findings and conclusions made by the trial court. Appellant's Brief at 1-3. However, none of his assignments of error have merit.

a. Robinson Had Serious Difficulty Controlling His Sexually Violent Behavior

Robinson argues the trial court erred in entering findings regarding his serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. CP 103 (FF 12, 29, 30, 31, 33, 44, 48, 49, 50, 51, and 53). In these findings, the trial court found that Robinson suffers from a mental abnormality and a personality disorder, and that his mental condition causes him serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior.

Robinson challenges the trial court's findings by asserting a lack of evidence that he molested any children while on parole or that he lost ability to control his behavior at the SCC. He suggests the absence of

such evidence defeated the court's findings. Appellant's Brief at 33. Robinson's argument is groundless.

At trial, the State presented substantial evidence of Robinson's serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. Probation officers Sharon Guss and John Withrow described how Robinson continued to seek out children despite probation conditions that prohibited him from doing so. CP 89A (Ex. 25; Ex.33). Ms. Guss observed Robinson's repeated contacts with two little girls. *Id.* (Ex. 25). She also found boys' underpants in a locked trunk belonging to Robinson. *Id.* Robinson admitted to Mr. Withrow that he had children in his residence and had taken a boy into the restroom. *Id.* (Ex. 33). Robinson also admitted that he had "wrestled" with children. *Id.*

Dr. Goldberg testified about Robinson's mental condition and how this condition caused him serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. 2RP at 137-140. Dr. Goldberg testified that when he examined the persistence of Robinson's behavior, it was striking that even after being convicted of a sexual crime against a child and receiving a prison sentence, Robinson continued to have contact with children while on probation, knowing full well that he would be subjected to additional prison time. 2RP at 137. The fact that additional imprisonment did not deter Robinson from having contact with children on three separate

occasions illustrated his lack of volitional control. *Id.* Moreover, Dr. Goldberg noted that Robinson continued his sexual offending in 2000, and Robinson was suspected of offending against additional victims in the apartment complex where he worked and resided. *Id.* at 138.

In addition, Robinson's statements following his sexual offending against Andy M. and William B. perfectly illustrated his difficulty with volitional control. When interviewed by a detective regarding his rape of Andy, Robinson admitted that he masturbates and thinks about sucking a boy's penis, but that he has been working on trying not to, and that his penis gets sore from all the masturbation. 2RP at 139. When interviewed by the investigative officer regarding his molestation of William, Robinson stated that "I have to constantly tell myself I cannot do this, I was going to get some help." *Id.* This evidence clearly showed that Robinson has serious difficulty with his volitional control.

With regard to Robinson's argument that he did not act out while in confinement, Dr. Goldberg explained that the lack of such behavior is not uncommon amongst sex offenders and it is not considered a significant point of data:

In my experience, and also my experience in California, it's very rare. Even though we have a hospital with 700 SVPs in California, it's very rare for any of those sex offenders to be accused of rape, collecting child pornography, or anything like that. And does that mean that they don't have

a problem with children or they don't have a problem with rape? No, it just means that they are in a structured environment ... it doesn't mean it's not going on. I'm just saying I don't think that's a very significant point of data. Now, if he was caught, I do think that is significant, because it's a rare occurrence. But I do – not getting caught for child porn or not getting caught for rape is common among sex offenders. And I'd say at least 80 percent of sex offenders, in my experience, never engage in that behavior.

2RP at 210.

Dr. Goldberg further explained:

That's what I'm saying is that I don't think you can make many inferences, especially with a child molester who is generally in my experience, the most well-behaved prisoners in the population are the child molesters, that just because they behave in prison doesn't necessarily mean they're going to behave when they get out. Primarily the reason is their issues have nothing to do with other adults. It has to do with children. There are no children in prison.

2RP at 215.

The overwhelming weight of the evidence supported the trial court's findings that Robinson had serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior.

b. Robinson's Grooming Behavior

Next, Robinson disputes the trial court's findings regarding his "grooming" and "predatory" behavior toward children. Appellant's Brief at 46-47. He disagrees with the trial court's findings that he placed

himself in a position of trust and engaged in grooming behavior toward his child victims. CP 103 (FF 4, 5, 15, and 43).

The record is replete with evidence of Robinson's grooming behavior. Robinson's probation officers provided evidence of this behavior. While on parole, Robinson had repeated contacts with children despite conditions prohibiting such contact. He invited children into his home and admitted to accompanying a seven-year-old boy into the restroom. CP 89A (Ex. 33). Robinson had no children of his own, yet he had toys and children's magazines in his home. *Id.* (Ex. 25). Robinson admitted that he "wrestled" with children. *Id.* (Ex. 33). He also admitted that he babysat two girls. *Id.* (Ex. 25).

Robinson testified in his deposition that he volunteered to babysit William B. *Id.* (Ex. 22 at 64). William's mother needed a babysitter and he volunteered his services. *Id.* Robinson also babysat Andy M. on numerous occasions. Andy's parents invited Robinson to church. He became the leader of the church's boys' group. He began babysitting Andy a year after he met the parents. *Id.* (Ex. 22 at 42). Robinson estimated that he babysat Andy more than 20 times. *Id.*

In describing Robinson's grooming behavior, Dr. Goldberg explained:

... he does groom his victims, as evidenced by his, you know, getting involved in activities which are attractive to children, getting involved in baby-sitting, the church group and things like that; develop trust with the parents of these children so that he can molest them.

2RP at 183.

Dr. Goldberg described how Robinson placed himself in a position to gain access to children:

One of the characteristics of people with pedophilia is that they like to associate with children, because that is where they get their sexual gratification. And in this case, you have a long pattern of Mr. Robinson becoming involved in activities which are attractive to children. He was working for a carnival. He told me at one time he was working there for ten years. Lately, he said it's more than five years. That's a place you would come in frequent contact with children. He also, as I mentioned earlier, he was -- prior to the 1987 offense, he was volunteering for the church. He was leading a boys' group. And then a 2000 offense, he was somehow baby-sitting children. Most adult men do not volunteer for baby-sitting children. That's my experience. It's very unusual. And he was baby-sitting children often, during this time period. So again, you have a pattern of somebody who frequently comes in contact with children. And that is that is a quality of pedophilia. And also, you do have an incidence in the 1990's, when he was placed on parole after serving time for the first conviction, and he was constantly being violated for being in the presence of children, which also is an indication that he has a hard time staying away from children.

2RP at 115-116.

The evidence showed that Robinson placed himself near children by befriending the parents, working as a babysitter, working in a carnival,

and volunteering as a church leader. The evidence showed that he invited children into his home and continued to babysit while on parole. The reasonable inferences from this evidence support the trial court's finding that Robinson placed himself in a position of trust and engaged in grooming behavior.

c. Mental Abnormality and Personality Disorder

Robinson argues the trial court erred in finding that he suffers from a mental abnormality and a personality disorder. CP 103 (FF 26, 27, and 28). The sole basis for Robinson's argument is that his expert, Dr. Manley, offered a different opinion than Dr. Goldberg.

Dr. Goldberg diagnosed Robinson with pedophilia and opined that this condition constitutes a mental abnormality. *Id.* at 122, 134-140. Dr. Goldberg based his opinion on Robinson's long history of persistent sexual behavior toward children and his self-admitted difficulty in controlling his sexual urges toward children. 2RP 110-117, 119, 139.

Dr. Goldberg diagnosed Robinson with personality disorder not otherwise specified, with antisocial features. 2RP at 134. He reached this diagnoses by examining Robinson's lifelong pattern of behavior. He observed that Robinson's life is lined with deceitfulness, impulsivity and unlawful behaviors. 2RP 131-134.

Here, the trial court considered the testimony of both Dr. Goldberg and Dr. Manley. The trial court was persuaded by Dr. Goldberg's testimony and opinions. *Id.* (FF 28). It did not find Dr. Manley's testimony to be persuasive. *Id.* (FF 45, 49).

Because appellate courts defer to the trier of fact regarding a witness's credibility, conflicting testimony, and the persuasiveness of the evidence, Robinson's argument fails. *Brotten*, 130 Wn. App. at 335. The trial court made a credibility determination and this Court should defer to the trial court.

d. Risk Assessment

Robinson argues the trial court erred when it found he was more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility. CP 103 (FF 34, 35, 36, and 37). Again, Robinson rests his argument solely on the fact that Dr. Manley provided a contrary opinion. Appellant's Brief at 42-43. However, a difference of opinion does not constitute grounds to overturn the trial court's findings.

Dr. Goldberg testified in detail about how he assessed Robinson's risk to reoffend. 2RP at 141-196. Dr. Goldberg testified that in his expert opinion, to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty, Robinson is likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. 2RP at 196.

The trial court considered the testimony of both experts and concluded that Dr. Goldberg's opinions were more persuasive. Besides relying on the contrary opinions of his own witness, Robinson cites no other basis to overturn the trial court's decision. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, with all reasonable inferences drawn in the State's favor, a rational trier of fact would have found that Robinson is likely to reoffend.

e. The SRA:FV Assessment

Robinson argues the trial court erred when it entered Finding of Fact No. 40, regarding the Structured Risk Assessment: Forensic Version (SRA:FV). Finding of Fact No. 40 states:

Of particular interest to the Court was Dr. Goldberg's scoring on the Structured Risk Assessment – Forensic Version (SRA-FV). According to the data and the three categories regarding sexual interest, relational style and self-management, Mr. Robinson scored a 3.31, which placed him in the high risk/high need category. Dr. Goldberg testified how the Static-99R and the SRA-FV are combined as to static and dynamic factors, which show Mr. Robinson to be above the 50th percent threshold to reoffend and is thus considered more likely than not to sexually reoffend.

Robinson argues that Dr. Manley rejected the validity of the SRA:FV because the instrument has not been published or critiqued. Appellant's Brief at 43. For the first time on appeal, Robinson references

Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), and appears to be raising a *Frye* challenge. Appellant's Brief at 44. However, because Robinson never raised the issue below, he cannot raise the issue for the first time on appeal.

Failure to object to the admissibility of evidence at trial precludes appellate review of that issue unless the alleged error involves manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 342, 835 P.2d 251 (1992); *State v. Stevens*, 58 Wn. App. 478, 485-86, 794 P.2d 38 (1990). Our courts have held that failure to preserve for review any challenge to the foundation of an expert's testimony under *Frye* does not involve manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *See In re Detention of Post*, 145 Wn. App. 728, 755, 187 P.3d 803 (2008) (failure to seek a *Frye* hearing in the trial court precluded the issue for review on appeal); *In re Detention of Taylor*, 132 Wn. App. 827, 836, 134 P.3d 254 (2006) (failure to raise *Frye* issue at commitment trial precluded review on appeal). *Accord State v. Florczak*, 76 Wn. App. 55, 72-73, 882 P.2d 199 (1994); *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 820, 863 P.2d 85 (1993).

Because Robinson never raised the issue below, the State had no opportunity to respond fully to the challenge he now makes. The Court

should decline to address the *Frye* issue based on Robinson's failure to preserve this issue for appeal.

f. Robinson's Age as a Protective Factor

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